# **University of Alberta**

Mitigating Burnout in Special Education: The Importance of Connections and Leadership by

Jolene Stromecky

A capping exercise submitted to the Faculty of Education In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Education in Educational Administration and Leadership

Faculty of Education

Edmonton, Alberta

August 14, 2023

#### **ABSTRACT**

Teacher retention rates are becoming a growing concern, particularly in the field of special education. To gain a deeper understanding of this trend, a pilot study was conducted to illustrate the experiences of teachers who have encountered burnout while working in special education environments. The study found high levels of job satisfaction, sufficient support from administrators, and positive relationships with colleagues all played a critical role in reducing burnout among special education teachers. Mitigating symptoms of burnout requires being inclusive to special educators, creating opportunities for shared responsibility, allowing for collaboration time with colleagues, and providing positive feedback. Addressing this issue is crucial for reducing teacher attrition and ensuring school leaders possess the characteristics necessary to support their special education teachers effectively. These insights are particularly relevant for school leaders overseeing special education programs, as they directly impact student success and teacher retention.

# **Table of Contents**

Mitigating Burnout in Special Education	2
Burnout	4
Teacher Attrition	7
Burnout In Special Education, Teacher Experiences: Pilot Study	9
Overview	9
Method	10
Results	10
Discussion	12
Connections	13
Leadership Characteristics	16
Research Conclusions	20
Recommendations and Concluding Thoughts	20
Recommendations for Practice, Policy, and Research	20
Concluding Thoughts	22

# Mitigating Burnout in Special Education: The Importance of Connections and Leadership

Special education is a challenging field requiring a high level of compassion and expertise to cater to the complex needs of diverse learners with multiple diagnoses. Special education teachers are often tasked with understanding a variety of diagnoses (Jovanović et al., 2019), such as autism spectrum disorder, oppositional defiant disorder, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, Tourette's syndrome, reactive attachment disorder, and cerebral palsy. They must also be proficient in addressing mental health concerns (including suicidal ideations) in children and teens, implementing positive behaviour interventions to reduce challenging or harmful behaviour of students, and adapting educational content to ensure accessibility for those with auditory, visual, or communicative differences. Most students within special education programming also require an Individualized Program Plan (IPP) – alternatively referred to as an Individualized Educational Plan (IEP), which is to be reviewed consistently and discussed with those involved in their care (Stark & Koslouski, 2021). In addition, special education teachers are expected to fulfill typical teaching requirements such as assessment and planning, connecting with families, attending professional development, and addressing various other needs. Meeting the diverse needs of special education students can put a heavy workload on teachers, leading to burnout and high levels of teacher attrition (Hester et al., 2020). This poses a significant challenge for school leaders who must ensure teachers have the resources to prevent burnout and provide quality care for students with complex needs (Dye, 2023).

The well-being of students in special education and their learning experience relies on their teachers' dedication, expertise, and well-being. It is crucial for special education teachers to provide a high level of care and support to their students, while principals must ensure their staff is equipped with the necessary resources to carry out the many aspects of their job effectively. However, special education stakeholders' challenges have intensified in recent years as the teacher attrition rate has increased (Evashkovsky & Osipova, 2023). This ongoing concern highlights the urgent need for proactive strategies in the mitigation of burnout in special education to ensure all students receive the best possible education and support.

To fully comprehend the detrimental effects of teacher burnout on special education and its association with teacher attrition, it is essential to inquire into the various factors which contribute to this phenomenon. As such, I interviewed experienced special education teachers and investigated the existing literature on burnout to provide a comprehensive overview of the issue. Burnout among special education teachers is a complex issue which requires ongoing attention. It is not just a result of excessive workload and stress but also a reflection of the necessity for proactive measures to be put into place. To prevent the alarming rate of burnout in special education, it is crucial for school administrators and stakeholders to address its prevalence actively. Providing teachers with the necessary resources and support they require is imperative for them to support their classrooms efficiently. Additionally, cultivating a culture with rich peer relationships and collaboration is effective in preventing burnout and promoting a healthy work environment in which teachers have a desire to remain.

It is important to note the origin of my interest in the literature and research shared in this capping project, as well as my positionality. I have had the opportunity to work in the area of special education for the last eight years. My experience includes working inclusively with students with special needs, as well as in specialized programs dedicated to individual programming for students with a multitude of needs. Working as both a teacher and now a Learning Coach (i.e., someone who works closely with teachers to build programming based on

unique needs), I am fortunate to work with the dedicated educators who support our most vulnerable students in a non-traditional school setting. Our school consists of four highly specialized programs, each addressing various needs. One program supports students and staff in navigating readiness to learn for students with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Our behaviour program works with students with extraordinary overt behavioural challenges through positive supports and planning. The mental health program is designed for students who are more successful in smaller environments and requires additional support with mental health challenges and potentially suicidal ideations. Finally, our medical program is for students with multiple severe medical, cognitive, and physical exceptionalities. My colleagues work tirelessly to ensure students' academic, physical, mental, emotional, and spiritual well-being. Unfortunately, amidst the effort I have seen displayed in maintaining this holistic well-being comes the impact of burnout on many of the staff, including myself.

My first-hand experience with burnout prompted me to explore it further in my studies. Seeing the hard work of special educators result in experiencing these negative effects activated my curiosity to know what could be done to prevent it, as well as explore the best ways to cope with it. It would be a true loss in special education, particularly for the students, for the continued strain of burnout to negatively impact teachers in the profession.

## **Burnout**

Burnout, a syndrome vastly experienced within human service occupations (Oliveira, 2021), is becoming increasingly common for teachers working in the special education setting. Maslach and Jackson (1981), who have led a large part of published literature describing burnout, define it as being marked by feelings of emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and

low personal accomplishment. Emotional exhaustion refers to the feeling of being drained and unmotivated, making work feel like a burden (Boujut et al., 2016). Depersonalization involves developing negative and detached behaviour, often toward others in the workplace (2016). Reduced personal accomplishment is marked by an individual being excessively critical of their personal work and abilities (2016). The reported burnout of special education teachers is essential to consider in research to create environments consisting of interventions which will be successful in detecting possible indicators and decreasing their symptoms.

Originally a conversation cited by Freudenberger in a clinical setting, burnout was felt by the "dedicated and committed" (1974, p. 161). He described it using its literal definition: "to fail, wear out, or become exhausted by making excessive demands on energy, strengths, or resources" (1974, p. 159). In his representation of burnout, physical symptoms included a sense of tiredness and exhaustion, inability to recover from minor illnesses, headaches, gastrointestinal issues, insomnia, and shortness of breath. Behaviourally, Freudenberger noted staff members' tendency to get angry quickly and react with instant irritation and frustration. This was followed by the tendency to become unreasonable and rigid, becoming noticeably depressed to colleagues, with a reduced level of efficiency at work. As a result, colleagues reported feeling their coworkers who were experiencing burnout were less approachable, which was damaging to their relationships (1974).

Since its emergence in the 1970s, burnout has continued to be a topic of interest for researchers and policymakers. They aim to understand its causes and implement preventive measures, which highlights its significance in both theory and practice (Schaufeli et al., 2009). Metaphorically, burnout originates a large flame, dissipating over time due to a lack of fuel to continue its perseverance. Unable to continue burning without assistance, a flame requires

specific means to create something of impact (2009). Much like the sentiments of those in caregiving professions, the flame represents "the exhaustion of employees' capacity to maintain an intense involvement that has a meaningful impact at work" (2009, p. 205).

The three subscales discussed emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and personal accomplishment, were developed during Maslach and Jackson's study in which they constructed the Maslach Burnout Inventory. Acknowledging the increased stress associated with working with individuals with charged feelings, they reported the negative outcomes of self-reported burnout (1981). Building off previous research, a 25-item survey was created to evaluate burnout experienced by various human service workers (not limited to special education) to be incorporated into future research to gain a deeper understanding of the factors which contribute to or prevent burnout. Maslach and Jackson's intent in its use was to suggest changes in recruitment, training, and job design to alleviate burnout of its emotional and occupational implications (1981).

Since its publication, it has been used widely to identify burnout in a variety of occupations. A relationship between burnout and intention to leave the profession is reported in, but not limited to, child welfare workers (Nielsen et al., 2023), police officers (Correia, 2023), psychologists (Schilling, 2021), accounting professionals (Çollaku et al., 2023), medical and non-medical workers at hospitals (Yamada et al., 2021), nurses, teachers, and medical assistants (Diekmann et al., 2020). The effects of burnout being experienced by such a large variety of occupations further indicate the importance of identifying ways in which it can be mitigated in those experiencing it.

#### **Teacher Attrition**

Research has shown burnout caused by job-related stress and low levels of job satisfaction can lead to teacher attrition (Antoniou et al., 2023). Special education teachers are more likely to leave the profession due to higher job demands than general education teachers (McLeskey et al., 2003), with a reported 50% leaving the profession within the first five years (Ansley et al., 2016). The quality of working conditions plays a crucial role in determining teachers' willingness to stay in the profession. School boards continue to have difficulty filling jobs in the special education spectrum due to the requirement of the unique ability to see success in every student, despite the sometimes-intricate planning and effort required to do so (Player et al., 2012). A school climate providing adequate resources, support, and positive social relationships can contribute to job satisfaction and reduce the likelihood of teacher turnover (Bettini et al., 2020). In the modern education environment, burnout may be marked by the imbalance of job requirements and training, as well as resources available to teachers. Larger class sizes, increasingly diverse student profiles, and decreased funding continue to loom in education. Educators in unsupportive work environments or experiencing emotional exhaustion are more susceptible to burnout (Hillel Lavian, 2015). This is particularly true of special education teachers due to the high-pressure nature of their work (Kiel et al., 2016). To ensure a successful special education system, it is essential to prioritize the psychological well-being of teachers, which is linked to reduced burnout. Numerous studies have revealed various effects of burnout, such as struggling with relationships outside of work, developing a pessimistic outlook towards oneself and children, resorting to psychoactive substances to cope with behavioural changes, and experiencing physical symptoms like migraines and insomnia (Ibraimov, 2022) alongside anxiety, high blood pressure, depression, and a fragile immune system (Ansley et al.,

2016). Unsurprisingly, once teachers have experienced significant amounts of burnout, they are more likely to leave the profession (Brunsting et al., 2014).

Madigan and Kim examined how burnout and job satisfaction impact teachers' intentions to leave their profession (2021). They concluded burnout to be a significant factor contributing to teachers' intention to quit, and the incidence of burnout among teachers is increasing. Their meta-analysis study established a strong correlation between burnout and teachers' intent to leave and between job satisfaction and teachers' intent to leave. The alarming rates of teacher attrition associated with burnout solidify the importance of ongoing research in the subject area to refine policies and practices of associated stakeholders.

It is crucial to consider the burnout experiences of special education teachers in research in order to develop effective interventions that can detect potential warning signs and alleviate the negative symptoms. Because burnout is reported to contribute to teacher attrition, seeking to understand its effects on education teachers is essential in reducing both. Before conducting my research, I examined the existing literature on burnout, teacher attrition, and ways to mitigate burnout, as reported above. Based on my findings, it was clear teachers working in unsupportive environments and struggling with emotional fatigue were more likely to experience symptoms of burnout (Lavian, 2015). Key findings from the review of the literature suggested special education teachers, in particular, work in high-stress settings with several stressors potentially increasing the likelihood of experiencing mental health disorders and psychiatric stress, putting them at high risk of burnout (Kiel et al., 2016). Ibraimov emphasized the importance of prioritizing the psychological well-being of teachers for a successful education system (2022). Studies also showed burnout is largely indicated by the disparity between inputs and outputs in education; meaning teachers putting in continuous effort without equitable compensation are

more likely to experience symptoms of burnout (Pavlidou et al., 2022). These findings established the relevance of the continued research into the experiences of special education teachers who identified as feeling burnt out and drove the topic for my pilot study.

# **Burnout In Special Education, Teacher Experiences: Pilot Study**

Below, I provide an overview of the phenomenological pilot study I conducted exploring burnout in special education. It includes the research necessity and goals, methodology, and findings. Following the findings, a deep delve into their implications in the special education field is presented through revisiting relevant literature.

## Overview

As part of my research to give voice to teachers who experienced burnout in special education, I sought to answer the research question: How do teachers who work with special needs students experience burnout? In doing so, I additionally focused on answering the following four sub-questions:

What causes educators who work with students with complex needs to experience burnout?

How do educators describe their experiences which have caused symptoms of burnout?

How do educators mitigate the effects of burnout?

How can administrators/principals support the mitigation of burnout?

#### Method

This study aimed to explore and illustrate the burnout experiences of special education teachers. A phenomenological approach was used, and only three teachers who met specific criteria were selected from a forum. All participants were informed about the study's purpose and provided informed consent before the interviews took place. For the study, 30-minute interviews were conducted with each participant using an online video chat platform. The interviews were semi-structured to promote a natural conversation flow and ensure all questions in the interview schedule were addressed. The schedule consisted of 10 questions with 3 additional probing questions. After recording and reviewing the transcripts, I analyzed them to identify any recurring themes. Open coding was used to create a list of topics which were discussed in all three interviews. Finally, these were categorized into two main themes: (a) understanding, support, and education, and (b) connection.

#### **Results**

In this study, participants' experiences with connections to others were found to be the most crucial indicator in determining their levels of burnout and ways to alleviate symptoms. One respondent found social activities outside of work hours helpful in lessening the effects of burnout, allowing her to interact with colleagues with similar experiences and reduce stress levels, leading to a refreshed mindset for the next day. Another participant frequently collaborated with fellow teachers to reduce daily stress. This included brainstorming with colleagues when faced with unresolved issues for a fresh perspective, which led to reducing the likelihood of feeling isolated and burnt out. The final participant emphasized the importance of strong connections with like-minded professionals. Having these connections enables her to be

able to work through challenges with her colleagues to combat the feeling of burnout and as well as to feel less isolated. These comparable findings on the usefulness of connections prove it worth investigating further (Stromecky, 2023).

The three interviewees held similar views on their experiences with their principals in special education. They agreed the leadership characteristics of their principals were critical in establishing a successful special education environment. One respondent expressed her principal was not acquainted with the additional education and support required to provide proper care to the children in her classroom. This left her feeling unprepared and unsupported, leading to increased symptoms of burnout. She indicated, of her principal:

They didn't set us up for success. It was the sense of like, "Here's a new kid, but we're not going to give you any more resources to support him, or any more training, to support him." That really got to me.

Another participant shared the same perspective, reporting her principal was more managerial and lacked empathy, making it challenging to manage the demands of her special needs classroom without the necessary support. Despite requesting additional resources, no solution was found, leaving her feeling unsuccessful in supporting her classroom effectively, which ultimately led to her departure from the program. In contrast, another participant was content with her principal's acknowledgement and understanding, which made the demands of her special needs classroom more manageable. These results indicate a significance in understanding what impact leadership characteristics may have on whether a special education teacher may feel burnout symptoms (Stromecky, 2023).

Alongside leadership and connections, the responses to another interview question stood out in relevance. When each participant was asked what advice they would give to beginning teachers entering the field of special education, each gave constructive responses, which continued to tie to the aforementioned themes. One response involved reaching out to other professionals who have gone through similar experiences to connect with and build morale. The next powerfully asserted "that feeling of belonging and community is so much more important than any academic concept you could ever teach" (2023, p. 17). Finally, the last participant cited the satisfactory feeling of connecting with students as something to strive for in special education. Considering this, the theme of connection continued to build in the relevance of my research (Stromecky, 2023).

## **Discussion**

Through the research I completed in discussing experiences with teachers in special education, the effects of burnout, and the risk of teacher attrition, it is important to consider factors which may either relieve or mitigate these outcomes. It is clear from my conversations: building connections with others has a positive impact on those suffering from burnout. Specifically, in the context of special education, those relationships seem to be the most beneficial when they are with colleagues who share similar experiences. Aside from these critical connections is the leadership guiding the expectations of a special education teacher. Through my participants, I discovered leaders who lack empathy are less effective in creating an environment hospitable for special education. Moreover, leaders who encompass compassionate and understanding characteristics were able to alleviate some of the stressors associated with

burnout (2023). Thus, this leads to further investigation into the role connections and leadership characteristics may have in mitigating burnout and reducing teacher attrition.

With connections and leadership styles being at the forefront of my research, each will be discussed to understand more deeply their reported impact in special education classrooms.

Although being discussed separately, they are deeply related to one another. In order for meaningful and organic connections amongst staff to exist, it is important for the principal to create an environment in which they can thrive.

## **Connections**

For the purpose of this paper, connections refer to the relationships between individuals in the special education setting. This may include relationships between special education teachers and general education teachers, special education teachers with one another, with other professionals working with the students (occupational therapists, speech and language pathologists, educational assistants, etc.), or special education teachers and principals.

Connections, in this context, are mutual, collaborative, and trusted relationships. By nature, special education is a field immersed in connection and collaboration because of the many stakeholders involved in ensuring student success (Jorgensen, 2022).

Having relationships with colleagues in the special education setting is a tool which can be encouraged and practiced to moderate the effects felt by burnout (Boujut, 2016). Adversely, not having relationships in this setting may have the opposite effect. Dye reported the negative impacts one might have without relationships with colleagues, such as isolation, frustration, reduced personal accomplishment, and increased burnout (2022). In many school environments, there is a more significant number of general education teachers, who may even have collegial

partners teaching the same grade, as to the staggeringly low number of special education teachers. Without this same support system, often used to share resources and experiences, special education teachers are left with an increased workload, alongside higher levels of stress and anxiety (2022).

Establishing positive relationships in the school environment can significantly reduce burnout among special education teachers. These relationships need not be limited to the classroom but can be fostered through participation in planning sessions, group events, and emotional support outside school hours. As a result, special education teachers are more likely to remain in their roles and experience higher job satisfaction (2022). Additionally, these acts are beneficial in reducing feelings of depersonalization and increasing teacher retention (Conley & You, 2017).

According to a study on stress levels in special education teachers, there is a correlation between isolation and burnout (Herman et al., 2023). Specifically, when a school has numerous general education teachers, and only one special education teacher, the latter may feel isolated, resulting in burnout (2023). Jorgensen's (2022) research emphasizes the importance of special educators building a strong support network. In order to do so, it is crucial to be open to asking questions and sharing information with their colleagues, whether in general or special education classrooms. By doing this, special educators can create a collaborative and supportive environment which is conducive to the success of all students and prevents feelings of isolation which may lead to burnout. Langher et al. (2017) conducted research on special education teachers to examine how the support from their colleagues affects their reported burnout. The study reported a direct correlation between perceived support and the personal accomplishment of teachers. This suggests having positive connections with colleagues can help teachers feel

more accepted, reducing their perceived burnout. The study emphasizes the importance of actively creating supportive environments to prevent burnout among teachers (Langher et al., 2017).

Fye's (2019) dissertation explored the effect peer relationships in education had on teacher retention. Of the levels of support described by her participants, emotional support from peers was identified as the most motivating factor to determine whether or not one would stay in the field of education. Additionally, during focus groups, teachers from multiple backgrounds and years of experience indicated the importance of working with other professionals willing to share knowledge and resources common to their practice. The importance of feedback from their teacher peers was also prevalent, even among veteran teachers who appreciated the opportunity to have others collaborate with them and offer advice to better their practice. Noted was the necessity for this feedback to be shared between trusted colleagues who had an honest relationship with one another (Fye, 2019). Aside from the professional support provided through collegial relationships, teachers in this study also reported emotional support as an important indicator of their desire to remain in the profession. Her recommendations include offering time for teachers to spend together building friendships (social events) and creating schedules allowing collaboration time (Fye, 2019).

Using a questionnaire, Player et al. (2012) asked existing high-needs high school teachers what might attract others to enter the field and what could retain current special education teachers (Player et al., 2012). In this study, 39% of teachers responded the school environment, and 26% responded caring relationships (Player et al., 2012). Both factors relate to the idea of connections and the impact it might have on reducing teacher attrition.

A study conducted in Jordan discovered different types of connections which could help to alleviate feelings of burnout among teachers in special education, contrary to other published literature which supports collegial relationships (Baiteneh, 2009). Bataineh's (2009) study examined the influence of supervisors, colleagues, friends, spouses, and family members on teachers experiencing burnout. The results revealed family relationships had the most positive impact in reducing burnout and highlighted the cultural significance of this finding. In Arabian culture, family is the primary source of love, support, feedback, and advice, and because of the strong family bonds, it is the preferred method of assistance in Jordan. Supervisors, colleagues, spouses and friends yielded no significant relationship. Despite the differences in these results, this research is important to consider the importance of connections across cultures. Although coming from a different source, Baiteneh (2009) still recommended future research exploring the importance of social support intervention programs when considering the mitigation and prevention of burnout in special education.

Based on the evidence shared, connections play an important role in the satisfaction of teachers, both in special and general education. Most important for teachers, specifically in special education, is reducing isolation by creating time and space to work alongside other teachers instead of being segregated in the school setting. Not only are professional relationships important for teachers in special education, where they can share educational resources and ideas but so are personal relationships, where they can build friendships with their colleagues.

## Leadership Characteristics

In Alberta, school principals must adhere to the Leadership Quality Standard (Alberta Education, 2020), which mandates school leaders should be skilled teachers capable of fostering

an environment conducive to high-quality teaching and sustained optimal learning (Alberta Education, 2020). By effectively implementing and fulfilling the nine Standards established by Alberta Education, principals can guarantee inclusive environments are routinely fostered to ensure the success of all school community members, including teachers (Alberta Education, 2020). Principals who work in environments inclusive of special education programs and teachers have an additional responsibility of being attentive to the overall well-being of the teachers and students in those classrooms. As such, the characteristics in which they practice their leadership affect not only the satisfaction of the staff working with them but, ultimately, of the students in the classrooms. Possessing the title of principal is a minuscule factor in determining leadership. In order for a principal to be perceived as a leader, they must exhibit admirable qualities and set shared goals which those working with them have a shared interest in accomplishing. The leadership styles and characteristics of administrators have a significant impact on the burnout level of employees. As a result, the leadership qualities of school administrators can affect the burnout level of teachers (Genç, 2020).

Knowledgeable principals, who trust their staff in the decision-making process through collective responsibility, and who also foster collaboration have a positive impact on the special education teachers working with them (Dye, 2022). By shaping a school culture through these values, educators are encouraged to share their thoughts and ideas, collaborate successfully with their colleagues, and create a more feasible working environment. Doing so may lead to increased special education teacher retention (Dye, 2022).

According to Sires and Tonnsen (1993), burnout among special education professionals is caused by excessive paperwork, slow student progress, feelings of isolation, and a lack of leadership support. Research findings showed special educators experience stress, low morale,

and a high attrition rate due to inadequate support from their school principals. These educators require support from school leadership in several areas, such as understanding their job responsibilities, helping with disciplinary issues, and equal treatment and opportunities as their teacher colleagues (Sires & Tonnsen, 1993). Their recommendations for principals in mitigating symptoms of burnout as a result of leadership characteristics consist of being inclusive to special educators (as well as their students), creating opportunities for shared responsibility, allowing for collaboration time with their colleagues, and being visible and present to them to show understanding and care (Sires & Tonnsen, 1993). These results also confirm the previously addressed importance of connections in special education environments.

Leaders who provide positive feedback to special educators may also make them less susceptible to burnout (Gong et al., 2013). For example, Gong et al. (2013) use Northouse's definition of transformational leadership, which "refers to the process whereby an individual engages with others and creates a connection that raises the level of motivation and morality in both the leader and the follower (Northouse, 2004, p. 170). This process elevates the level of commitment and integrity in the relationship. According to research, transformational leadership is linked to lower levels of emotional exhaustion and depersonalization, and higher levels of personal accomplishment (Gong et al., 2013). This reveals a connection between transformational leadership and the three aspects of burnout among teachers, which suggests transformational leadership may play a critical role in preventing burnout in special education teachers (Gong et al., 2013).

Some studies posit strong leadership as one of the highest indicators of teacher retention (Player et al., 2017). Of the characteristics of these principals, the most important indicators were fairness, collaborative efforts with the teachers, support, and effective discipline (Player et al.,

2017). Suggested in this study was a set of behaviours which would be desirable to retain teachers. These included having a shared vision which staff are motivated to work towards, offering support to teachers in any capacity necessary, recognizing the efforts put forward by teachers, and maintaining disciplinary standards which keep teachers safe (2017).

Additional studies indicate special education teachers' desire to remain in the profession may be due to having smaller class sizes, additional planning time, visible administrators, a voice in the decision-making process, support with disciplinary matters, and collegial relationships (Petty et al., 2012). Principals who are able to work alongside special educators to ensure suitable environments are maintained (including the number of students in the class) and issues are addressed collaboratively may play a role in increasing teacher retention. Their presence and attention to current issues in special education can reveal their desire to improve the perceived burnout level of special education teachers.

Neuhoff (2023) called for principals to be mindful of their leadership style with respect to the impact of teacher attrition. Using the Full Range Leadership approach to understanding the different styles in practice, Neuhoff (2023) focused on the impacts of transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire leadership. As discussed earlier, transformational leadership is linked with a strong dedication to the learning atmosphere, superior performance, and optimal utilization of resources (Neuhoff, 2023). Moreover, transactional leadership focuses on task completion and progress monitoring, which may be effective in some educational situations; however, lacks the encouragement and influence which transformational leaders may embody. Finally, laissez-faire (or passive/avoidant) leadership, as suggested by its name, offers minimal direction to teachers, giving them an increased responsibility to make decisions and solve problems. Based on the results of this study, which are supported by previously published

studies, transformational leaders have the highest positive impact on job satisfaction, decreasing the level of burnout. This means the principal's leadership style is crucial in addressing issues in schools, and by utilizing transformational leadership and promoting a practical work environment, a principal can positively impact teacher retention (Neuhoff, 2023).

#### **Research Conclusions**

It is without hesitation to state principals and relationships significantly impact the educational environment, both positively and negatively. Because of the high levels of burnout and teacher attrition reported in special education currently, it is clear teachers are feeling isolated and without adequate support from their principals. By building a positive rapport with teachers, including a shared vision, principals may be better equipped to reduce teacher attrition and negate the effects of burnout. Additionally, a harmonious school climate is likely to exist if principals are mindful of offering teachers time to work with one another, considering the importance of clear and consistent disciplinary standards, and encouraging the voice of all teachers in school matters.

#### **Recommendations and Concluding Thoughts**

# Recommendations for Practice, Policy, and Research

By understanding the various causes of teacher attrition and taking proactive measures to address them, we can reduce teacher attrition rates and ensure special education students receive the quality education they deserve. Connections and leadership characteristics have both been closely examined in this writing, but other factors have been published when considering mitigating burnout and teacher attrition in special education. Principals working with special

education teachers should ensure adequate time is available for special education teachers to build connections with their colleagues (including their principals), either formally or informally. In the school setting, it is important for principals to be mindful of their special education programs, especially to ensure they are not isolated from the general education programs, physically and pedagogically. Ultimately, principals must ensure they are meeting regularly with special education teachers proactively and either addressing their needs or working towards solutions alongside them. Superintendents can support principals by providing professional development opportunities which seek to increase the understanding of the special education environment for themselves, principals, general education teachers, and special education teachers. By taking this holistic approach to ensure all educators have a knowledge base in special education, those working directly in the programs will have an increase in support available to them when needed.

Addressing the issue of burnout does not solely lie within school divisions. Provincial governments also have an impact through funding concerns, which directly affect the quality of education and the level of burnout in the classroom. Insufficient funding for such programs results in increased class sizes, fewer staff educated to meet the student's needs, and a lack of resources necessary for student success, which each contribute to increased levels of burnout. Policymakers must have a comprehensive understanding of the special education environment prior to allocating funds to special education programs to ensure the safety and success of their students, as well as the satisfaction and retention of their teachers. Additionally, the provincial government can consider University funding targeted to special education as a proactive measure. Ensuring undergraduate students in faculties of education have a reasonable opportunity to prepare for a career in special education will also be advantageous in reducing

the multiple needs they will experience in their classrooms, alongside pedagogical recommendations for success. Additionally, offering practicum experience which includes either special education classrooms or inclusive classrooms which have students with unique needs to have the opportunity to work with special needs students alongside their educational teams. The diverse needs of the students accessing special education are detrimental to be considered at the provincial level in order for special education teachers to be able to offer their students a quality education experience without feeling increased levels of burnout symptoms.

Although commencing almost 50 years ago, continued research into burnout, specifically mitigating its negative effects, is recommended to continue. By continuing to narrow in on predictive factors, policies which show promise, and coping strategies, a decrease in burnout may be revealed, which may also result in an increase in the retention of teachers in special education.

# **Concluding Thoughts**

Burnout remains a heavily researched topic in the field of special education. While much has been published, teacher attrition remains a concern. Despite the many factors described to mitigate burnout in published literature, I have chosen to solely shed light on connection and leadership characteristics based on the results of my pilot study. With strong connections to our colleagues, students, and others, special educators are offered a safe space to ask questions, seek advice, and feel heard. Principals who embody leadership characteristics which seek to collaborate with their staff, have a shared vision for success and understand the extraneous difficulties associated with teaching special education play a large role in determining the level

of burnout potentially felt by teachers. Principals working in schools with special education programs should continue to follow research on burnout as it continues to advance, and actively implement recommended strategies in order to reduce its negative effects and promote teacher retention.

In conclusion, we must continue to shed light on the issue of teacher burnout in special education. In coming full circle with the origin of burnout, it is as important today to consider Freudenberger's (1974) synopsis of the topic: "We cannot prevent burn-out, but we can certainly help to avoid it as much as possible and when it does happen to one of us, to admit it, ask others for help and take some time off for ourselves" (p. 165).

## References

- Alberta Education. (2020). *Leadership quality standard*. Alberta King's Printer. Retrieved from: https://www.alberta.ca/assets/documents/ed-leadership-quality-standard-english.pdf
- Ansley, B. M., Houchins, D., & Varjas, K. (2019). Cultivating positive work contexts that promote teacher job satisfaction and retention in high need schools. *Journal of Special Education Leadership*, 32(1), 3–16.
- Antoniou, A., Efthymiou, V., Polychroni, F., & Kofa, O. (2020). Occupational stress in mainstream and special needs primary school teachers and its relationship with selfefficacy. *Educational Studies*, 49(1), 200-217. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2020.1837080
- Bataineh, O. (2009). Sources of social support among special education teachers in Jordan and their relationship to burnout. *International Education*, *39*(1), 65-78.
- Bettini, E., Cumming, M. M., O'Brien, K. M., Brunsting, N. C., Ragunathan, M., Sutton, R., & Chopra, A. (2020). Predicting special educators' intent to continue teaching students with emotional or behavioural disorders in self-contained settings. *Exceptional Children*, 86(2), 209–228. <a href="https://doi-org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.1177/0014402919873556">https://doi-org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.1177/0014402919873556</a>
- Boujut, E., Dean, A., Grouselle, A., Cappe, E. (2016). Comparative study of teachers in regular schools and teachers in specialized schools in France, working with students with an autism spectrum disorder: Stress, social support, coping strategies and burnout. *Journal of Autism & Development Disorders* 46(9), 2874-2889. DOI: 10.1007/s10803-016-2833-

- Brunting, N.C., Sreckovic, M.A., Lane, K. L. (2014). Special education teacher burnout: A synthesis of research from 1979 to 2013. *Education and Treatment of Children*, *37*(4), 681-712. https://www-jstor-org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/stable/44683943
- Çollaku, L., Aliu, M., Ahmeti, S. (2023). The relationship between job burnout and intention to change occupation in the accounting profession: The mediating role of psychological well-being. *Management Research Review*. doi:10.1108/MRR-10-2022-0726
- Conley, S. & You, S. (2021). School organizational factors relating to teachers' intentions to leave: A mediator model. *Current Psychology*, 40(1), 379-389. DOI:10.1007/s12144-018-9953-0
- Correia, I., Romão, Â., Almeida, A., Ramos, S. (2023). Protecting police officers against burnout: Overcoming a fragmented research field. *Journal of Police and Criminal Psychology*, 1-17. doi:10.1007/s11896-023-09584-4
- Diekmann, K., Bockelmann, I., Karlsen, H.R., Lux, A., Thielmann, B. (2020). Effort-reward imbalance, mental health and burnout occupational groups that face mental stress.

  \*\*Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 62(10), 847-862. DOI: 10.1097/JOM.000000000001978
- Dye, K. (2023). Relationships impacting special education teacher burnout. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 58(1), 27-31. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2022.2134949">https://doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2022.2134949</a>
- Evashkovsky, M. & Osipova, A. (2023). Understanding novice special education teachers' and paraeducators' mentorship relationships: A comparative case study. *The Journal of Special Education Apprenticeship*, *12*(1), 1-21.

  https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/josea/vol12/iss1/4

- Freudenberger, H.J. (1974). Staff burn-out. *Journal of Social Issues*, 30(1), 159-165. DOI:10.1111/j.1540-4560.1974.tb00706.x
- Fye, S.B. (2019). *Relationships at work: Perspectives on teachers' peer relationships and retention* (Publication No. 22582948) [Doctoral Dissertation, University of Pennsylvania]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Genç, E. (202). The effects of ethical leadership perceptions and personal characteristics on professional burnout levels of teachers. *Upravlenets The Manager*, 11(5), 70-80. DOI: 10.29141/2218-5003-2020-11-5-6.
- Gong, T., Zimmerli, L, Hoffer, H.E. (2013). The effects of transformational leadership and the sense of calling on job burnout among special education teachers. *Journal of School Leadership*, 23(6), 969-993. https://rowman-com.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/page/JSL
- Herman, K. C., Sebastian, J., Eddy, C. L., Reinke, W. M. (2023). School leadership, climate, and professional isolation as predictors of special education teachers' stress and coping profiles. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioural Disorders*, 31(2), 120-131. https://doi.org/10.1177/10634266221148974
- Hester, O., Bridges, S., Hart Rollins, L. (2020). "Overworked and underappreciated": Special education teachers describe stress and attrition. *Teacher Development*, 24(3), 348-365. https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2020.1767189
- Hillel Lavian, R. (2015). Masters of weaving: The complex role of special education teachers. *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice*, 21(1), 103-126. https://doiorg.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.1080/13540602.2014.928123

- Ibraimov, K. I. (2022). Psychological and pedagogical recommendations for overcoming emotional burn-out of primary teachers of inclusive education. *International Journal of Early Childhood Education*, *14*(3), 4229–4236. <a href="https://doi-org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.9756/INT-JECSE/V1413.543">https://doi-org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.9756/INT-JECSE/V1413.543</a>
- Jorgensen, R. R. (2023). *Loving your job in special education: 50 tips and tools*. Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Kiel, E., Heimlich, U., Markowetz, R., Braun, A., & Weiß, S. (2016). How to cope with stress in special needs education? Stress-inducing dysfunctional cognitions of teacher students: the perspective of professionalisation. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 31(2), 202-219–219. <a href="https://doi-org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.1080/08856257.2015.1125693">https://doi-org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.1080/08856257.2015.1125693</a>
- Langher, V., Caputo, A., & Ricci, M.E. (2017) The potential role of perceived support for reduction of special education teachers' burnout. *International Journal of Educational Psychology*, 6(2), 120-147. http://dx.doi.org/10.17583/ijep.2017.2126
- Madigan, D. J., & Kim, L. E. (2021). Towards an understanding of teacher attrition: A metaanalysis of burnout, job satisfaction, and teachers' intentions to quit. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 105, 1-14. <a href="https://doiorg.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103425">https://doiorg.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103425</a>
- Maslach C. & Jackson S. (1981). The measurement of experienced burnout. *Journal of Occupational Behaviour*, 2(2), 99-113. *International Journal of Early Childhood Special Education*, 14(3), 4229–4236. <a href="https://doi-org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.9756/INT-JECSE/V1413.543">https://doi-org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.9756/INT-JECSE/V1413.543</a>

- McLeskey, J., Tyler, N., & Flippin, S. (2003). The supply of and demand for special education teachers: A review of research regarding the nature of the chronic shortage in special education. (COPSSE Document Number RS-1). University of Florida, Center on Personnel Studies in Special Education.
- Neuhoff, R.M. (2023). *Leadership style, job satisfaction, and burnout: The attrition dilemma in the teaching profession* (Publication No. 30509713) [Doctoral dissertation, Ashland University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Nielsen, M.B., Johannessen, H.A., Christensen, J.O., Finne, L. B. (2023). Emotional dissonance burnout among child welfare workers: The moderating role of social support from colleagues, supervisors, and organization. *Journal of Social Work*, 23(4), 615-635. DOI: 10.1177/14680173221143649
- Northouse, P. G. (2004). Leadership: Theory and practice (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Oliveira S., Roberto, M.S., Veiga-Simão, A.M., Marques-Pino, A. (2021). A meta-analysis of the impact of social and emotional learning interventions on teachers' burnout symptoms.

  \*Educational Psychology Review 33(4), 1770-1808. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-021-09612-x">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-021-09612-x</a>
- Petty, T.M., Fitchett, P., & O'Connor, K. (2012). Attracting and keeping teachers in high-need schools. *American Secondary Education*. 40(2), 67-88.
- Player, D., Youngs, P., Perrone, F., & Grogan, E. (2012). How principal leadership and person-job fit are associated with teacher mobility and attrition. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 67, 330-339. DOI:10.1016/j.tate.2017.06.017
- Schaufeli, W.B., Leiter, M.P., & Maslach, C. (2009). Burnout: 35 years of research and practice. Career Development International, 14(3), 204-220. DOI:10.1108/13620430910966406

- Schilling, E., Boan-Lenzo, C., Randolph, M. (2023). Predictors of job burnout in practicing school psychologists. *Journal of Applied School Psychology*, *39*(1), 24-39. https://doi.org/10.1080/15377903.2021.1998280
- Sires, C., Tonnsen, S. (2021). Special education: A challenge for principals. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *57*(1), 3-48. DOI:10.1177/0013161X20913897
- Stark, K. & Koslouski, J. (2022). Using emotions as data: A framework for supporting educators' well-being and improving professional practice. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 44(1), 60-77. <a href="https://doi-org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.1177/00400599221081039">https://doi-org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.1177/00400599221081039</a>
- Stromecky, J. (2023) *Burnout in special education: Teacher experiences*. [Unpublished manuscript]. Faculty of Education, University of Alberta.
- Yamada, C., Kishimoto, N., Masuda, Y., Tanaka, Y., Kuwahira, I., Chino, O., Ebihara, A., Shiraishi, K., Nishizaki, Y. (2021). Survey of job stress and burnout among employees of various occupations at a COVID-19-dedicated hospital. *Environmental and occupational health practice*, *3*(1), 1-6. DOI:10.1539/eohp.2021-0014-BR

#### APPENDIX A

Jolene Stromecky
Educational Policy Studies
Faculty of Education, College of Social
Sciences and Humanities
7-104 Education North
Edmonton, AB T6G 2G5 587.982.3593
jstromec@ualberta.ca

January 21, 2023

**Participant** 

Dear Participant,

I am a graduate student in the Master of Education in Administration and Leadership program at the University of Alberta. The purpose of this letter to you is to take part in a research assignment for my EDPS 509 Research Design and Data Analysis course. My assignment is intended to explore the prevalence and experiences of burnout in teachers who work in special education. Your participation would involve a thirty-minute interview through Zoom involving questions about your personal experiences. Your participation is voluntary; there will be no consequence to you should you decline to participate or decide to withdraw from participating.

In order to gather data for my research assignment, I will be conducting interviews with 3-4 participants, and then studying their responses. The interview will be audio recorded and transcribed. Please note:

- You may choose not to answer any question.
- You may opt out of this research assignment once responses have been submitted.
   To do so, please submit your request by email by April 1st and I will destroy all data.
- I will send you a transcription of the interview as well as a summary of the main points I understood you to make by email; you will have the opportunity to verify the accuracy of the transcription and my interpretation of it.

Should any concerns, complaints, or questions arise from your participation, you may contact me or my instructor, Dr. Jose da Costa (jdacosta@ualberta.ca).

All data will be handled in compliance with the University of Alberta Standards for the Protection of Human Research Participants:

- Participant names will not be revealed. To protect confidentiality, pseudonyms or numerical coding will be used in all written representations of the data.
- Hard copy data will be locked in a filing cabinet and will be destroyed on my completion of my graduate program.
- Digital data will be stored on my computer under a secure password-protected system and will be destroyed on my completion of my graduate program.
- Data will be used to complete my EDPS 509 course, my graduate program, and may be used in future presentations and publications in educational contexts.

Thank you for considering this invitation to participate in my research. If you wish to participate, please sign the attached consent form and return it to via e-mail by March 16<sup>th</sup> 2023.

The plan for this research has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines and approved by Research Ethics Board 1 at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, you can contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615.

Should you wish a copy of my research findings, I would be pleased to provide one on your request.

Sincerely,

Jolene Stromecky
Graduate student in the Master of Education in Administration and Leadership
Faculty of Education, University of Alberta
587-982-3593
jstromec@ualberta.ca

# APPENDIX B

# Adult Participant Consent Form

DPS 509 Research Assignment: Understanding burnout in special education environments.	
esearcher: Jolene Stromecky	
Pate Range of Research: March 1, 2023 – April 14 2023	
(name of participant), hereby consent to participate in the research, Inderstanding Burnout in Special Education Environments.	
understand that my participation includes:	
<ul> <li>A 30-minute interview with Jolene Stromecky.</li> <li>An audio recording of my responses.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>My participation in this research is voluntary.</li> <li>I may withdraw from the research without penalty until April 1, 2023.</li> <li>All information gathered will be treated confidentially.</li> <li>No identifying information will appear on written representations of the data: pseudonyms or numerical coding will be used to convey the data.</li> <li>The data will be used for the purposes of completion of the Master of Education in Educational Studies (MES) program and may be used in future presentations and publications in the educational context.</li> </ul>	
• The plan for this research has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines and approve by Research Ethics Board 1 at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, I can contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-26	
Signature of Participant Date	

#### APPENDIX C

#### Interview Schedule:

- 1. How long have you been working in a special education setting?
- Tell me about a typical day in your classroom which has students with complex needs in it.
- 3. What factors motivated you to work in this environment?
- 4. Give an example of an experience you have had with a student who has complex needs which negatively impacted you.
- 5. Describe an event that caused you to experience symptoms of burnout.
  - a. Probing: how did this negatively impact you?
- 6. What strategies do you use to mitigate the symptoms of burnout?
  - a. Can you give me an example of some of those strategies?
- 7. Do you feel that these strategies are successful?
- 8. What types of support have you been offered by your administration?
  - a. Can you describe this experience further?
- 9. What strategies would you suggest for administration to implement to support teachers that are experiencing burnout?
- 10. What advice would you give for a teacher who's just beginning their career working with students with special needs?